2003

Utah v. David J. Orr : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING

This is an appeal from an Order of the Honorable Timothy R Hanson, Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss an Order to Show Cause and extending Defendant's formal AP&P probation for a term of ten years minus the three years previously served. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL, STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW AND PRESERVATION BELOW

The Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County in and for the State of Utah wrongfully denied Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Order to Show Cause and erroneously ruled the Court had jurisdiction to extend the Defendant's probation for a period of ten years (minus three years previously served on probation). "Whether the trial court had the authority to extend Defendant's probation is a question of law. We accord a trial court's conclusions of law no particular deference, reviewing them for correctness." *State v. Wilcox*, 808 P.2d 1028, 1031 (Utah 1991); *State v. Rawlings*, 893 P.3d 1063, 1066-67 (Utah App. 1995). Also, "(b)ecause the interpretation of a statute presents a question of law, we review for correctness." *State v. Amador*, 804 P.2d 1233, 1234 (Utah App. 1990); *State v. Grate*, 947 P.2d 1161, 1164 (Utah App. 1997).

This issue was preserved in the lower court upon the Defendant's filing of a Motion to Dismiss Order to Show Cause for Lack of Jurisdiction and Memorandum in Support

thereof, and oral argument relating to said Motion, as well as the Judge's ruling denying Defendant's Motion (R. 234-378, 481, Add. 4, 386-394).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following statute is relevant to the issues presented on appeal and is attached as Addendum 1:

Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant David J. Orr was initially charged with twenty-eight felonies including Securities Fraud, Communications Fraud, Unregistered Securities Agent and Pattern of Unlawful Activity (R. 2-8). On March 23, 2000, Defendant entered a Change of Plea to the amended charge of Attempted Securities Fraud, a third degree felony (Count 8) and Unlicensed Broker-Dealer or Agent, a third degree felony (Count 20) (R. 20-21). On May 12, 2000, Defendant was sentenced by the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson to two indeterminate terms not to exceed five years in the Utah State Prison to run consecutively. At the same time, the Court suspended the prison terms and placed Defendant on probation for three years to be supervised by the Utah Adult Probation & Parole Department ("AP&P") with numerous conditions, including that Defendant serve six months in the Salt Lake County Jail with no credit for time served, and pay restitution as determined by his probation officer. Defendant was required to pay no less than \$1,000.00 per month toward restitution or 25% of his income under the direction of AP&P (R. 22-27).

Defendant performed satisfactorily during his three years (36 months) of probation, but on May 13, 2003, Court records show that an AP&P Progress/Violation Report was filed with the Court (R. 228-229). On May 19, 2003, an Order to Show Cause was entered by the Third District Court (signed on May 13, 2003 by Judge Hanson) alleging that the Defendant had violated the terms and conditions of his probation “by having failed to pay restitution in full, as ordered, in violation of a special condition of the Probation Agreement.” (Add. 2 & 3) (R. 230-231, 232-233). On or about May 23, 2003, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss Order to Show Cause for Lack of Jurisdiction and a Memorandum in Support thereof (R. 234-378).

The Court held a hearing on June 23, 2003 and denied Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss from the Bench and indicated a formal Memorandum Decision and Order would be forthcoming (R. 383-384).¹ The Court filed its Memorandum Decision and Order on July 2, 2003 formally denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction and ruling that the Court had jurisdiction and authority to extend Defendant’s probation for a maximum of ten years because the Court had sentenced the Defendant to two 0-5 year terms in the Utah State Prison, and had suspended those terms (Add. 4, R. 386-394). The Court also concluded that it was not required to place the Defendant on a bench probation as argued by

¹ The Court apparently combined the hearing on the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss with the Probation Revocation hearing, although Defendant was not asked to admit or deny the allegations in the Order to Show Cause and no evidence was presented as to the Defendant’s willful failure to pay restitution. Further the Judge made no findings on this issue. *See* Point III *infra*.

the Defendant under the provisions of U.C.A. § 77-18-10(a)(ii)(A) (sic) “because the Defendant’s probation did not expire or terminate under § 77-18-10(a)(i) (sic), but was instead tolled under § 77-18-1(11)(b)” (Add. 4, p. 6, R. 391).

Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal from the Court’s Decision on July 9, 2003 bringing us to the present proceedings (R. 395-396).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Defendant David J. Orr was originally charged with twenty-eight felonies under the securities laws of the State of Utah (R. 2-8).

2. On or about March 23, 2000, Defendant waived preliminary hearing and entered a plea of guilty to Attempted Securities Fraud, a third degree felony (Count 8 amended) and Unlicensed Broker-Dealer or Agent (Count 20) also a third degree felony (R. 20-21).

3. On May 12, 2000, the Defendant appeared before the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson and was sentenced to two terms not to exceed five years in the Utah State Prison with the sentences to run consecutively. The Court suspended the prison terms and placed the Defendant on probation under certain specific conditions, including that the Defendant was required to pay restitution as determined by the Adult Probation & Parole Department. Defendant was required to pay no less than \$1,000.00 per month toward his restitution, or 25% of his income, under the direction of the Adult Probation & Parole Department. The

Court indicated a restitution hearing could be set upon appropriate application (R. 22-24, 25-29).

4. Court records indicate that on May 13, 2003, a Progress/Violation Report was filed by Probation Officer Robert Egelund requesting that the Court issue an Order to Show Cause requiring Defendant Orr to appear and show cause, if any he has, why his probation should not be revoked and he be committed to the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law, the execution of which had been previously stayed by the Court, “(B)y virtue of his having failed to pay restitution in full, as ordered, in violation of a special condition of the probation agreement.” (R. 228-229, Add. 2, 230-231).

5. The Defendant was served with the Affidavit and Order to Show Cause on May 19, 2003 requiring him to appear before the Court on May 30, 2003 at 9:00 a.m. by Agent Egelund (Add. 3, R. 232-233).

6. Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the Order to Show Cause and Memorandum in Support thereof for lack of jurisdiction on or about May 22, 2003 (R. 234-235, 236-378).

7. On or about June 23, 2003, the Court held a hearing regarding Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss at which the Defendant was present and represented by his attorney Larry R. Keller and the State was present through its attorney Assistant Salt Lake County District Attorney Howard R. Lemcke, Jr. (R. 383-384) (*See* footnote 1, p. 4 *infra*).

8. While the Court ruled from the bench regarding several of the issues on June 23, 2003, the Court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order on or about July 2, 2003 and mailed it to the parties (Add. 4, R. 386-394).

9. Defendant Orr filed his Notice of Appeal on July 9, 2003 (R. 395-396), and his Motion for Certificate of Probable Cause and Motion for Stay of Execution of the July 2, 2003 Order on or about August 29, 2003 (R. 425-427, 430-473).

10. Although not indexed in the record on appeal, the Court denied Defendant's Motion for Certificate of Probable Cause on October 1, 2003, and Defendant appealed the denial of the Motion for Certificate of Probable Cause by filing a Motion and Memorandum in Support thereof as well as an Affidavit of Counsel in Support of said Motion with the Utah Court of Appeals on November 24, 2003. Said Motion remains pending before this Court at the time of the writing of this Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant Orr maintains that the Court's jurisdiction to extend or modify his probation ended by operation of law on either May 11, 2003 or May 12, 2003 and that additional proceedings undertaken by the Court, and the Court's Order extending his probation for a period of ten years minus the three years he had already served on probation, is in violation of Utah law. Defendant further argues that if the Court did have jurisdiction over him, the Court can only extend his probation as a Court probation only and not a formal

probation with the Adult Probation & Parole Department for purposes of enforcing the Court's restitution order.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. DEFENDANT'S PROBATION ENDED BY OPERATION OF LAW ON MAY 12, 2003, AND THE COURT LOST JURISDICTION OVER HIM AT THAT TIME.

The record in the instant case shows that Defendant was sentenced by the Honorable Timothy R. Hanson on May 12, 2000 (R. 22-29). The records further show that on May 13, 2003 an AP&P Progress/Violation Report and an Affidavit in Support of Order to Show Cause were formally filed with the Court (Add. 2, R. 228-231). The record also shows that the Court issued an Order to Show Cause on May 13, 2003 requiring the Defendant's appearance in Court to answer to the allegation in the Affidavit (Add. 3) (R. 232-233). The record shows that the Order to Show Cause itself was signed by the Court on May 13, 2003.

Id.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(10)(a)(i) reads as follows: "Probation may be terminated at any time at the discretion of the court or upon completion without violation of 36 months probation in felony or class A misdemeanor cases, or 12 months in cases of class B or C misdemeanors or infractions." Calculating a date which is thirty-six months from the date of May 12, 2000, the date upon which Defendant was sentenced, his probation technically terminated by law on May 11, 2003 at midnight; or, at the very least, May 12, 2003 at midnight. It is Defendant's contention that May 12, 2003 was one day beyond thirty-six

months, but his argument remains the same whether it was May 11, 2003 at midnight or May 12, 2003 at midnight. since documents were not formally filed with the Court, and the Order to Show Cause process was not begun according to the official Court record until May 13, 2003 (R. 228-233).

In its decision, the trial court engaged in the reasoning that, although Defendant was placed on probation on May 12, 2000, “. . . the first day of probation would have concluded twenty-four hours after the sentence was imposed on or at the close of business on the following day, May 13, 2000.” *See*, Order attached as Addendum 4, R. 386-394 at 390-391. The Court cites no authority for this position; and, in fact, on May 12, 2000, the Court specifically ordered Defendant taken into custody and committed to the Salt Lake County Jail for a period of six months as a condition of his probation. The Court had Defendant handcuffed and removed from the courtroom on May 12, 2000 (R. 23-24).

If the Court’s reasoning is correct, it did not have authority to send Defendant to jail as a condition of probation until May 13, 2000, (twenty-four hours following the end of business on May 12, 2000), yet the Court clearly believed that the Defendant was on probation on May 12, 2000 by having him placed in handcuffs and having him taken forthwith from the courtroom as a condition of that probation.

The Court further indicated that, although the records of the Third District Court clearly show that the Progress/Violation Report was not formally filed with the Court until May 13, 2003, the fact that probation officer Robert Egelund testified that he brought the

Progress/Violation Report into the Court and date stamped it himself on May 9, 2003 was dispositive of the matter. The Court ruled that although the filing date on the Progress/Violation Report was changed to May 13, 2003, apparently by Court personnel, the Court intended to ignore such change. (Add. 4, p. 4, 5, R. 389, 390).

Although the Court opined from the bench that the change was probably made by his clerk on the date that she filed the document, no testimony or evidence under oath was taken to establish that fact in the Order to Show Cause hearing (R. 481, p. 26, l. 24, 25, p. 27, l. 1-11, p. 28, l. 6-20, p. 29, l. 1-5). Furthermore, the clerk of the court was not sworn and provided no specific evidence to support the trial Judge's conclusion (R. 481 in its entirety).

The trial Judge stated from the bench that he recalled that Officer Egelund had come to his office on Friday, May 9, 2003 and at that time he had authorized a filing of an Order to Show Cause for the purpose of extending probation (R. 481, p. 9, l. 3-7, p. 28, l. 8-25, p. 29, l. 1-5, p. 30, l. 3-9, p. 33, l. 6-25). The trial Judge was not placed under oath and was not examined or cross-examined by the parties, despite the fact that he purported to give evidence in this case. Because the issue in question was the very jurisdiction of the Court to proceed with the Order to Show Cause the trial Judge signed according to the Court's own record on May 13, 2003, after Defendant's probation ended according to Defendant's calculation, the trial Judge's unsworn testimony and statements from the bench became material to the case. It is the position of Defendant that once the Judge determined during

the course of the hearing that he had become a material witness, the Judge had an obligation to recuse himself from further proceedings associated therewith.²

The Judge ruled in his Order of July 2, 2003 as follows:

“An alternative date for tolling the probationary period is the issuance of an Order to Show Cause. The documents in this case reflect that the Court approved and authorized issuance of the Order to Show Cause on May 12, 2003. . . .” (Add. 4, p. 5, R. 390, 481).

However, the Order to Show Cause actually issued by the Court was not signed until May 13, 2003 and was actually filed by the clerk on the date of May 13, 2003. (Add. 3, last page, R. 232-233). Although the trial judge’s unsworn statement from the bench was that he actually approved and authorized the issuance of the Order to Show Cause on May 12, 2003 and thus that date is the date upon which the probationary period was tolled as a result of his signing the Order to Show Cause, the fact that it was not signed nor issued, nor filed with the Court until May 13, 2003 is a matter of record (Add. 3, R. 232, 233). The Judge’s unsworn testimony with regard to the date of May 12, 2003 should not have been admitted as a basis for establishing the “alternative date for tolling the probationary period” as indicated in the Judge’s Order of July 2, 2003.

The Court found that the provisions of U.C.A. § 77-18-1(11)(b) were in full force and effect in the instant case beginning on May 9, 2003, the date upon which Mr. Egelund

² See Utah Code of Judicial Conduct, Canon 3 E.(1)(d)(iv) which reads as follows, “(1) a judge shall enter a disqualification in a proceeding in which the judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where: E.(1)(d)(iv) is to the judge’s knowledge likely to be a material witness in the proceeding.”

testified that he date stamped his original Progress/Violation Report, despite the fact that the date stamp was changed by someone in the Court system to May 13, 2003 and not formally filed with the Court until May 13, 2003. (Add. 4, p. 4, R. 389). The concept of “filing” a Court document is determined almost exclusively by the date upon which Court records show the document was filed, and not by extrinsic testimony. In considering the question of whether or not a notice of appeal was timely filed, the Utah Court of Appeals stated:

In determining whether a notice of appeal is timely filed and establishes jurisdiction in an appellate court, this court must be bound by the filing date indicated on the notice of appeal transmitted to it by the trial court. This requirement is implicit in provisions of our rules governing timeliness of an appeal. We are therefore bound by the date stamped on appellant’s notice of appeal, and must dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction. *In re K.G.*, 2002 UT App 3, 2002 WL 23812, at *1 (Jan. 4, 2002).

In *State v. Parker*, 936 P.2d 1118 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), the court dismissed a prisoner’s appeal as untimely by one day even though it took nine days for the court clerk to stamp the appeal. Judgment had been entered on October 25, 1994; the prisoner had mailed his notice of appeal on November 19, 1994 but it was not date-stamped until November 28, 1994—one day after the expiration of the time limit for filing notice of appeal (since it was a Monday). *Parker*, 936 P.2d at 1118-19. In dismissing the appeal, the *Parker* court declined to adopt the widely-accepted “prison delivery rule” because “it is not consistent with the plain language of Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 4 [which requires that notice of appeal ‘shall be filed with the clerk of the district court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment ...].” *Parker*, 936 P.2d at 1122.

If the date-stamp is so determinative and enforced so strictly **against** criminal defendants, the State should be held to a similar standard given that its agents can hand-deliver the documents and wait in person for them to be stamped, or stamp them themselves. It would be easy for abuse to occur in the Court system if a probation agent who may have failed to file a certain report with the Court by a specific deadline realized that he could simply go in and stamp a first page of such a report on the due date without actually filing it with the Court until some days later. Certainly, this Court ought not to go by extrinsic testimony as to when the date stamp might have been placed on the document by Agent Egelund, but should go by the date that Court records show it was actually filed with the Court. If the date it was actually filed by the Court is not important and has no meaning, why then would the Court not give it the official date upon which it was date stamped by the individual who filed it? The date of filing is extremely important as indicated above, and May 13, 2003, the date that the Progress/Violation Report was considered by Court records to be filed, and the date upon which the Court signed the Order to Show Cause, should be the dispositive dates in this matter.

POINT II. DEFENDANT'S PROBATION ENDED BY OPERATION OF LAW ON MAY 12, 2003, AND THE COURT LOST JURISDICTION OVER HIM AT THAT TIME, BECAUSE HE WAS NOT PROVIDED NOTICE OF THE COURT'S ACTION UNTIL MAY 19, 2003.

The Utah Supreme Court and the Utah Court of Appeals have ruled in numerous cases that a trial court's power to grant, modify, or revoke probation is purely statutory, and

although the trial court has discretion in these matters, the trial court's discretion must be exercised within limits imposed by the legislature.³ Since U.C.A. § 77-18-1(10)(a)(i) (as amended 2003) requires a termination of probation "upon completion without violation of 36 months probation," it is the position of Defendant that the Court did not have jurisdiction to proceed with the Order to Show Cause against him. The filing of the Progress/Violation Report and Order to Show Cause on May 13, 2003 was not sufficient to create jurisdiction in the Court when such jurisdiction automatically terminated on May 11, 2003 at midnight by operation of law (or May 12, 2003 at midnight as the Court may determine). Therefore, the Court should have granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the Order to Show Cause for Lack of Jurisdiction in the Court. In addition to the foregoing however, Defendant's right to due process of law under both the U.S. and Utah Constitutions was violated because he was not provided with notice of the Court's action until May 19, 2003.

Although there was controversy in the lower court regarding the precise date that documents prepared by AP&P were "filed", there was **no** conflicting evidence regarding the date upon which the Defendant was served with notice of the Order to Show Cause. The Defendant was served on May 19, 2003, at least seven days after his probation should have terminated by operation of law according to the Court's records (Add. 3, R. 233). Furthermore, Agent Egelund testified at the hearing in the above-entitled matter that he did

³ See, *State v. Green*, 757 P.2d 462 (Utah 1988); *State v. Cowdell*, 626 P.2d 487 (Utah 1981); *Smith v. Cook*, 803 P.2d 788 (Utah 1990); *State v. Dickey*, 841 P.2d 1203 (Utah App. 1992).

not serve the Defendant until May 19, 2003 because “(T)hat was the soonest I was going to see him.” Mr. Egelund admitted that he didn’t make any extra effort to notify him of the Order to Show Cause hearing and the possibility that the Court would revoke, extend or modify his probation until May 19th. (R. 481, p. 22, l. 8-20). Furthermore, Agent Egelund admitted that he informed the Defendant prior to May 12, 2003 that his intention was to recommend to Judge Hanson that his probation be terminated and the matter of restitution be handled through the civil process as a judgment (R. 481, p. 22, l. 21-25, p. 23, l. 1-14).

In addition to the foregoing, the Court itself, in making its comments at the Order to Show Cause hearing on June 23, 2003, made the following statement:

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