2003

## Utah v. David J. Orr : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**Point I:** Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(11)(b) expressly tolls the running of the probation period upon the filing of a violation report. Here, the trial court found that the violation report was filed on May 9, 2003, three days before defendant's probation expired. Defendant has not shown that the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous. This Court has expressly rejected the argument that a defendant must be served before expiration of the probation period when a timely violation report has been filed. *See State v. Reedy*, 937 P.2d 152, 153 (Utah App. 1997). The trial court, therefore, had jurisdiction to extend defendant's probation.

**Point II:** The trial court extended defendant's probation based on his failure to fully pay restitution, an express condition of his probation. The trial court was not required to find that defendant's violation of his probation was wilful. To the contrary, applicable statutes and caselaw contemplate that a trial court be permitted to extend probation so as to allow the defendant to complete all the conditions of his probation, even when that failure is not wilful.

**Point III:** The State agrees that under Utah's probation statute, a trial court may only impose and extend probation terms for felonies in 36-month increments. The case should therefore be remanded for the trial court to enter an order extending probation for 36 months. However, should this Court determine that formal probation was improperly extended in this case, it should remand for the trial court to enter an order of bench probation for the purpose of enforcing the restitution order.



## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### **THE FILING OF THE PROGRESS/VIOLATION REPORT THREE DAYS BEFORE DEFENDANT'S PROBATION EXPIRED TOLLED THE RUNNING OF THE PROBATIONARY PERIOD; THE TRIAL COURT, THEREFORE, HAD JURISDICTION TO EXTEND DEFENDANT'S PROBATION<sup>5</sup>**

Defendant argues that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to extend his probation because the violation report was not filed until May 13, 2003, one day after his probation expired by law. Br. Aplt. 7-12. He alternatively contends that even if the violation report was timely filed, the court lost jurisdiction when he was not served with notice of the extension proceedings until 7 days after his probation expired by law. Br. Aplt. 12-21.

As the trial court correctly recognized, Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(11)(b) (2003) tolls the running of the probation period upon the filing of a violation report. The trial court found that the violation report was not filed on May 13, 2003, as defendant asserts, but on May 9, 2003, three days before defendant's probation expired. Defendant has not shown that the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous. This Court has expressly rejected the argument that a defendant must be served before expiration of the probation period when a timely violation report has been filed. *See State v. Reedy*, 937 P.2d 152, 153 (Utah App. 1997). Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded that defendant's probation period was tolled before it expired and that the court had jurisdiction to extend probation.

---

<sup>5</sup>This point responds to Points I and II of defendant's brief. *See* Br. Aplt. 7-21.

**A. Under Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(11)(b), the timely filing of the violation report tolled the running of defendant's probationary period.**

A trial court's power "to grant, modify, or revoke probation is purely statutory, and although a trial court has discretion in these matters, the court's discretion must be exercised within the limits imposed by the legislature." *Smith v. Cook*, 803 P.2d 788, 791 (Utah 1990). *See also State v. Green*, 757 P.2d 462, 463 (Utah 1988). Thus, whether a trial court has jurisdiction to revoke or extend probation is determined by statute. *See id.*

Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(10)(a)(i) provides that "[p]robation may be terminated at any time at the discretion of the court or upon completion without violation of 36 months probation in felony or class A misdemeanor cases, or 12 months in cases of class B or C misdemeanors or infractions." Under this provision, probation for a felony automatically terminates at the end of 36 months unless revocation or extension proceedings are initiated before probation expires. *See Green*, 757 P.2d at 464-65 (interpreting 1984 version of § 77-18-1(10)(a)(i)); *State v. Moya*, 815 P.2d 1312, 1315-16 (Utah App. 1991) (same).

Subsection (11)(b) provides that "[t]he running of the probation period is tolled upon the filing of a violation report with the court alleging a violation of the terms and conditions of probation or upon the issuance of an order to show cause or warrant by the court." Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(11)(b). In other words, if a violation report is filed with the court before probation expires by law, the probation period is tolled. *See State v. Reedy*, 937 P.2d 152, 153 (Utah App. 1997). The question then is whether the violation report here was filed before or after defendant's probation would expire by law.

As stated, defendant was sentenced to 36 months probation on May 12, 2000. R22-23. Defendant asserts that his probation “technically terminated by law on May 11, 2003 at midnight” and that “May 12, 2003 was one day beyond thirty-six months.” Br. Appt. 7-8, 13. Defendant is incorrect. ““When the time period is measured in months or years from a certain date, the day from which the time period is to run is excluded and the same calendar date of the final month or year is included.”” *Wilcox v. Geneva Rock Corp.*, 911 P.2d 367, 369 (Utah 1996) (quoting *Gilroy v. Lowe*, 626 P.2d 469, 471 (Utah 1981) and citing Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-7 and Utah R. Civ. Pro. 6(a)). *See also Van Tassell v. Shaffer*, 742 P.2d 111, 114 (Utah App. 1987). Under this rule, AP&P had until May 12, 2003 to file a violation report. *See Wilcox*, 911 P.2d at 369 (this rule “admittedly . . . allow[s] a plaintiff an extra day if we grant that he or she could file a complaint on the day of the event”).

The trial court found that Agent Egelund filed the violation report with the court on May 9, 2003. “A trial court's factual findings will not be reversed absent clear error.” *State v. Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶ 60, 28 P.3d 1278. *Accord State v. Gamblin*, 2000 UT 44, ¶ 17 n. 2, 1 P.3d 1108. “To demonstrate that a finding of fact is clearly erroneous, the defendant ‘must first marshal all the evidence that *supports* the trial court’s findings. After marshaling the supportive evidence, the appellant then must show that, even when viewing the evidence in a light *most favorable to the trial court's ruling*, the evidence is insufficient to support the trial court's findings.’” *Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶ 60 (quoting *Gamblin*, 2000 UT 44, ¶ 17 n. 2) (emphasis in original).

Defendant has neither marshaled the evidence nor otherwise demonstrated that the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous. Although defendant briefly mentions that Agent Egelund testified he personally filed and date-stamped the violation report on May 9, 2003, he does not explain why this testimony was insufficient to support the trial court's finding. Indeed, defendant ignores the evidence corroborating Agent Egelund's testimony: (1) the violation report, affidavit, and order to show cause all bear an electronic date-stamp of May 9, 2003 at 3:41; (2) although the original date-stamps were altered by hand, the date-stamp on the order to show cause returned to Egelund was not altered; (3) Egelund denied making the changes himself; and (4) the trial court approved the order to show cause on May 12, 2003, thereby demonstrating that it was filed before May 13. This evidence not only supports Agent Egelund's testimony, but it also supports the trial court's finding that the violation report was in fact filed on May 9, 2003, and not on May 13, as contended by defendant.

Defendant suggests that the trial court's finding was impermissibly based on the judge's own memory of events and the judge's belief that a court clerk changed the electronic date-stamp to reflect the date she entered the report and order to show cause on the computer docket. Br. Aplt. 9-10. Defendant argues that because the judge and law clerk were not sworn or cross-examined, these factors were not a proper basis for finding that the violation report was filed on May 9. *Id.*

The trial court's finding, however, was not based on either the judge's memory or on whether the court clerk changed the date to reflect when the documents were entered on the computerized docket. While the judge did say he recalled Agent Egelund coming in to

discuss defendant's probation, he explained that he did not have "an independent recollection of the date" of that conversation. R481:9. Thus, the judge never suggested that his finding was based on his independent memory of events. Indeed, the court's written ruling expressly states that the finding is based solely on "the documentary evidence before the Court in light of Mr. Egelund's credible testimony."<sup>6</sup> R389-90.

Admittedly, the trial court stated in both its oral and written rulings that it believed the a court clerk made the changes to the date stamp to reflect the "apparent date that the documents were docketed." R389; R481:26-28. Ultimately, however, that observation was irrelevant to the court's finding that the violation report was filed on May 9. As stated, the trial court expressly based its finding on the "credible testimony" of Mr. Egelund, in conjunction with the documentary evidence. R389-90. It was undisputed below that someone had subsequently altered the original electronic date-stamp. Who had done so, and why, became irrelevant once the trial court determined that Agent Egelund was telling the truth when he testified that he filed the violation report on May 9 and that he was not the one who had made the alterations.

---

<sup>6</sup>For the first time on appeal, defendant opines that "once the Judge determined during the course of the hearing that he had become a material witness, the Judge had an obligation to recuse himself from further proceedings associated therewith." Br. Aplt. 9-10 & n.2. As explained, the record does not support defendant's assertion that the trial court acted as a witness in this case, material or otherwise. In any event, if defendant believed that the trial judge was biased, it behooved him to move to recuse the judge under rule 29, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. His failure to do so precludes him from challenging the trial court's impartiality now. *See State v. Tueller*, 2001 UT App 317, ¶¶ 8-9, 37 P.3d 1180 (defendant waived appellate claim that judge was biased where he did not file motion under Utah R. Crim. 29 to recuse judge).

Defendant finally argues that the date a document is filed with the court “is determined almost exclusively by the date upon which [c]ourt records show the document was filed, and not by extrinsic testimony.” Br. Aplt. 11. In support, defendant cites to this Court’s prior holding that an appellate court is “bound by the filing date indicated on the notice of appeal transmitted to it by the trial court.” Br. Aplt. 11 (quoting *In re K.G.*, 2002 UT App 3, 2002 WL 23812, at \*1 (Jan. 4, 2002)). Defendant reasons that if this Court is bound by a date-stamp, the district court should also be bound by the date-stamp on the violation report. Br. Aplt. 11-12.

The unpublished decision defendant relies on is inapposite. In *K.G.*, the notice of appeal bore one date-stamp that showed the notice of appeal was untimely filed. 2002 UT App 3. Here, the violation report reflected two dates: (1) an electronic date-stamp showing that the report was timely; and (2) a hand-written change suggesting the report was untimely. The presence of the two dates raised a factual question regarding when the violation report was filed with the court. The trial court was obligated to resolve the factual issue in order to determine whether it had jurisdiction. It could only resolve that issue by taking extrinsic evidence.

Indeed, this Court considered extrinsic evidence under similar circumstances. In *Raiser v. Buirley*, 2002 UT App 277, 54 P.3d 650 (per curiam), this Court had dismissed Raiser’s appeal as untimely, holding that it was “bound by” the date-stamp appearing on the notice of appeal. *Id.* at ¶ 3. On a petition for rehearing, Raiser claimed that he had timely filed his notice of appeal with a money order for the filing fee, but that the court clerk had

returned the notice of appeal because the money order named the wrong payee. *Id.* at ¶¶ 3-4. This Court noted that Raiser’s allegations were supported by the original notice of appeal, which bore a date-stamp showing that it had been timely filed. *Id.* at ¶ 4. The original date-stamp had been crossed out in ink and initialed. *Id.* The notice of appeal bore a second date-stamp, which was not crossed out, but which showed an untimely filing date. *Id.* Under the circumstances, this Court accepted the first date-stamp as the correct one, deemed the notice of appeal timely filed, and reinstated the appeal.<sup>7</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 9.

In sum, defendant has not demonstrated that the trial court’s finding that the report was timely filed on May 9 was clearly erroneous. Thus, under the plain language of Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(11)(b), the running of defendant’s probation period was tolled by the filing of the violation report and the trial court had jurisdiction to extend his probation.

**B. Neither the tolling provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(11)(b), nor due process requires that a defendant be served before expiration of the original probation period.**

Notwithstanding the tolling provision of subsection (11)(b), defendant argues that even if the violation report was timely filed, due process requires that he be served with notice of the probation revocation or extension proceedings *before* probation expires as a

---

<sup>7</sup>Defendant also relies on *State v. Palmer*, 777 P.2d 521 (Utah App. 1989) to support his claim that the trial court should not have accepted extrinsic evidence to determine the correct filing date. Br. Aplt. 11. *Palmer*, however, addressed only whether the Court should adopt the prison mailbox rule to make an otherwise untimely notice of appeal timely. *Palmer*, 777 P.2d at 522. That case only stands for the proposition that failure to file a timely notice of appeal deprives the appellate court of jurisdiction. *Id.* Here, no one disputes that an untimely violation report would have deprived the trial court of jurisdiction to extend probation. Rather, the pertinent question here is whether the violation report was in fact timely filed. *Palmer* does not help answer that question.

matter of law. Br. Aplt. 12-21. Defendant contends that since he was not served with the order to show cause until seven days after his probation was scheduled to expire, the trial court lost jurisdiction to extend probation. Br. Aplt. 12-13. Defendant cites several Utah cases in support of his argument.

As shown below, defendant's argument depends on cases that either interpreted earlier versions of section 77-18-1 that did not contain subsection (11)(b)'s express tolling provision, or that rested on other subsections not relevant here. Contrary to defendant's claim, none of those cases held that due process required notice of probation extension proceedings before expiration of probation; rather, they all expressly based their holdings on statutory construction. Indeed, the only case to directly address the effect of subsection 11(b) expressly rejected defendant's argument. *See State v. Reedy*, 937 P.2d 152 (Utah 1997) (*per curiam*).

In *Green*, 757 P.2d at 463-65, the Utah Supreme Court interpreted the 1984 version of section 77-18-1 to require that probation proceedings be initiated before expiration of the probation period. In so holding, the supreme court rejected the State's contention that the then statutory "eighteen-month term [was] 'tolled' when any violation occurs within the period and that there is no time limit for initiating a revocation action." *Id.* at 464. The *Green* court observed that the State's interpretation of the statute would create an "indefinite probationary term [that] could theoretically be revoked many years after the original imposition and suspension of sentence." *Id.* This, the court concluded, was contrary to "the



plain meaning” of the statute. *Id.* The 1984 version of section 77-18-1 did not include the tolling provision that currently appears in subsection (11)(b).<sup>8</sup>

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